
	
	
	

	

 
January 12, 2018 

 
BY ELECTRONIC MAIL AND  

CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
 
David Berry, Director 
Western Regional Office 
U.S. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement 
1999 Broadway, Suite 3320 
Denver, CO 80202-3050 
dberry@osmre.gov   
 
Re:  Citizen Complaint and Request for Cessation Order Under the Surface Mining 

Control and Reclamation Act Over Right of Entry Violation at Jim Bridger Mine in 
Rock Springs, Wyoming, Permit No. PT-0338.  � 

 
Pursuant to the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (“SMCRA”), 30 U.S.C. §§ 

1267(h)(1) and 1271(a)(1), and SMCRA implementing regulations, 30 C.F.R. § 842.12(a), 
WildEarth Guardians (“Guardians”) hereby submits the following citizen complaint to inform 
the Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (“OSMRE”) that violations of 
SMCRA appear to be occurring in Wyoming at Jim Bridger Coal Mine, owned by Bridger Coal 
Company, a subsidiary of PacifiCorp (“PacifiCorp”), Wyoming permit number PT-0338. We 
request that OSMRE inspect and take appropriate action to address these violations pursuant to 
30 C.F.R. § 842.11. Furthermore, because it appears that PacifiCorp was not issued a valid 
surface coal mining permit, we request that OSMRE issue a cessation order pursuant to 30 
C.F.R. § 843.11(a)(2). 

 
At issue is the fact that PacifiCorp was improperly permitted by the Wyoming 

Department of Environmental Quality (“DEQ”) to mine a portion of federal coal lease, WYW-
2727. Through a permit renewal approved on November 28, 2014 (numbered 338-T7), DEQ 
claims to have authorized mining of coal from a 560-acre modification to the lease that was 
purportedly approved in 2010. This lease modification, however, was not approved by a U.S. 
Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) employee who had delegated authority to make such an 
approval. Consequently, the lease has no legal effect and PacifiCorp did not have the legal right 
to enter and commence mining of this lease modification. 

 
At issue is that the 2010 modification to federal coal lease WYW-2727 was approved by 

a BLM Field Manager who lacked delegated authority to actually approve the lease modification.  
As the U.S. Department of the Interior has held, BLM Field Managers do not have delegated 
authority to approve federal coal leases and federal coal lease modifications. In fact, in a 2016 
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ruling, the Interior Board of Land Appeals specifically overturned a BLM modification to a 
federal coal lease at the Jim Bridger Mine because a Field Manager illegally attempted to 
approve it.  See Exhibit 1, Order in IBLA 2016-79 (Aug. 25, 2016). According to the IBLA, 
because the lease modification was approved by a Field Manager who lacked delegated 
authority, the modification “[did] not bind the Department and [was] not properly considered a 
decision of the BLM.” Exhibit 1 at 3. The IBLA ultimately set aside the BLM’s purported 
decision. 
 

Because the 2010 modification to federal coal lease WYW-2727 was approved by a BLM 
Field Manager, the lease has “no legal effect.” Exhibit 2, WildEarth Guardians, 187 IBLA 349, 
353 (May 6, 2016) (holding that a coal leasing decision issued by a BLM employee without 
delegated authority has no legal effect). Consequently, PacifiCorp inaccurately represented that it 
had the legal right to enter and commence mining of this lease modification in its application. 
Further, DEQ improperly approved PacifiCorp’s application for a permit revision by failing to 
appropriately scrutinize whether PacifiCorp had a valid legal right to enter and commence 
mining. Consequently, both PacifiCorp and DEQ violated and continue to violate SMCRA and 
SMCRA regulations. 
 

I. LEGAL BACKGROUND 
 
Before an entity can conduct surface coal mining operations, a permit must be obtained. 

See 30 U.S.C. § 1256(a). To obtain a permit, an entity must submit an application to conduct 
surface coal mining operations and obtain approval from the permitting authority. See 30 U.S.C. 
§ 1257. A permit application must contain specific information demonstrating the applicant 
qualifies for permit issuance under SMCRA. Among other requirements: 
 

[A permit application must contain information] clearly showing the land to be 
affected as of the date of the application, the area of land within the permit area 
upon which the applicant has the legal right to enter and commence surface mining 
operations and shall provide the regulatory authority a statement of those 
documents upon which the applicant bases his legal right to enter and commence 
surface mining operations on the area affected[.] 

 
30 U.S.C. § 1257(b)(9); see also 30 C.F.R. § 778.15(a). If an entity does not properly 
demonstrate a legal right to enter and commence surface mining operations, its application for a 
permit cannot be approved. See 30 U.S.C. § 1260(b)(1) and C.F.R. § 773.15(a).  
 

To this end, a failure to demonstrate a legal right to enter and commence surface mining 
operations is subject to inspection and enforcement under SMCRA, even if a permit has been 
issued. See Exhibit 3, Paul F. Kuhn, 120 IBLA 1 (July 3, 1991). Although permitting authorities 
are not authorized to adjudicate property rights, they must take “appropriate action” to resolve 
any error in permitting and inform the permitted entity of inadequacies. Id. at 25. 

 
Accordingly, if a person files a complaint with OSMRE that a permittee has failed to 

demonstrate a right to enter lands and conduct surface mining in violation of SMCRA, the 
agency has a duty to ensure that “appropriate” action be taken to cause the violation to be 



	 3 

corrected. 30 U.S.C. § 1271(a) and 30 C.F.R. § 842.11(b)(1)(ii)(B); see also Paul F. Kuhn, 120 
IBLA 15. If a violation continues, a cessation order and/or notice of violation shall be issued. See 
30 C.F.R. §§ 843.11(a)(2) and 843.12(a)(2). 
 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

The Jim Bridger Coal Mine lease modification was purportedly approved in 2010. In a 
Decision Record, Lance Porter, signing as the “Field Manager,” claims to have approved the 
lease modification. On July 28, 2010, Mr. Porter stated in the Decision Record, “it is my decision 
to approve the Proposed Action to modify the existing coal lease [...].” Exhibit 4, BLM, Decision 
Record for Bridger Coal Lease Modification: WYW2727, p. 1, (July 28, 2010).   

 
However, as the BLM Rock Springs Field Office Field Manager, Mr. Porter was not 

delegated the authority to approve the modification to federal coal lease WYW-2727. Indeed, 
pursuant to the BLM’s applicable delegation of authority manuals and applicable regulations, the 
authority to approve federal coal lease modifications was (and still is) delegated only to officials 
within BLM State Offices, not to subordinate Field Managers. See Exhibit 5, BLM Washington 
Office’s Manual Section, MS-1203, Delegation of Authority (internal) at Appendix 1, p. 67, 
Subject Code or Regulation 3432 (displaying checked boxes for BLM employees that have 
authority to approve coal lease modifications; the only checked is the State Director, or “SD”) 
and Exhibit 6, Wyoming Supplement to the BLM Delegation of Authority at Appendix 1, p. 89, 
Subject Function Code 3432 (delegating authority to approve coal lease modifications to State 
Director and Deputy State Director for Minerals and Lands, as noted by the mark under “SD” 
and “920 DSD”); see also 43 C.F.R. § 3432.2(a) (stating that only “authorized officer[s],” which 
are defined under 43 C.F.R. § 3400.0-5(b) as BLM employees with delegated authority, may 
modify federal coal leases).  

 
As the U.S. Department of the Interior has held, because Mr. Porter, a BLM Field 

Manager, was not delegated authority to approve the 2010 modification to federal coal lease 
WYW-2727, his decision was “not properly considered decision of the BLM” and had “no legal 
effect.” 187 IBLA 353.1 Consequently, the BLM never approved a valid modification to federal 
coal lease WYW-2727. This means PacifiCorp was not properly vested with the right to enter the 
purported lease modification and commence surface mining activities. 
 

In order to comply with SMCRA, PacifiCorp requested a permit revision from the DEQ 
to include the coal from the purportedly modified federal lease WYW-2727. In 2014, DEQ 
approved the revision, allowing PacifiCorp to enter the purported Jim Bridger coal lease area 
WYW-2727 and commence mining under permit revision 338-T7. It is now clear, however, that 
this approval was in error.  

 
Because the 2010 decision to modify federal coal lease WYW-2727 was not properly 

approved by the BLM, it had no legal effect. PacifiCorp therefore had no valid right to enter the 
purported coal lease modification area and commence surface mining. The company therefore 

                                                
1 The IBLA has consistently held that federal coal leasing decisions made by BLM employees without delegated 
authority are not properly considered decisions of the BLM and have no legal effect.  See also Exhibit 7, Order in 
IBLA 2016-80 (Aug. 25, 2016) and Exhibit 8, WildEarth Guardians, 189 IBLA 274 (February 7, 2017). 
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failed to provide proper documentation demonstrating a right to enter and commence surface 
mining operations. DEQ further failed to verify the accuracy of PacifiCorp’s submissions and 
further failed to demonstrate that the approval for the permit revision, which became final on 
November 28, 2014, was supported pursuant to SMCRA and SMCRA regulations. 
 

III. COMPLAINT, REQUEST FOR INSPECTION, AND APPROPRIATE 
ACTION 
 

Where there is reason to believe that a violation of SMCRA or SMCRA regulations 
exists, OSMRE is required to notify the state regulatory authority pursuant to 30 C.F.R. 
§ 842.11(b)(1)(ii)(B). Where a state fails to respond within 10 days, or otherwise fails to take 
appropriate action, OSMRE must conduct an inspection of mining operations. If a violation is 
found as a result of an inspection, OSMRE must issue a “cessation order” and/or “notice of 
violation” pursuant to 30 C.F.R. §§ 843.11 and/or 843.12 to remedy the violations.  

 
Based on the aforementioned information, there is reason to believe that PacifiCorp has 

not accurately disclosed whether it has the legal right to enter the purported modification to 
federal coal lease WYW-2727 and conduct surface mining. This is a violation of, among other 
requirements, 30 U.S.C. § 1257(b)(9) and 30 C.F.R. § 778.15(a). Further, there is reason to 
believe that DEQ has failed to properly scrutinize PacifiCorp’s application to mine the purported 
federal coal lease WYW-2727 and whether the application to mine this purported lease was 
appropriately approved. This is a violation of, among other requirements, 30 U.S.C. § 1260(b)(1) 
and C.F.R. § 773.15(a). 
 

Accordingly, OSMRE must notify Wyoming regulatory authorities, conduct any 
necessary inspections, and take appropriate action to rectify these violations. Given that it 
appears PacifiCorp is mining without a properly obtained permit, we request a cessation order be 
issued pursuant to 30 C.F.R. § 843.11. 

 
We look forward to your prompt attention and action in this matter.  

 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Shannon Hughes, Climate Guardian 
WildEarth Guardians 
2590 Walnut Street 
Denver, CO 80205 
Shughes@wildearthguardians.org 

 
cc: (by hard copy and electronic mail): 
 

Todd Parfitt, Director  
Kyle Wendtland, Administrator 
Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality  
Land Quality Division  
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200 West 17th Street, Suite 10  
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
todd.parfitt@wyo.gov  
kyle.wendtland@wyo.gov  
 


